#### No. 45933-7-II

# COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

VS.

JOHNNIE MURREL COOLEY,

Appellant.

On Appeal from the Pierce County Superior Court Cause No. 13-1-00268-1 The Honorable Thomas Larkin, Judge

**OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT** 

STEPHANIE C. CUNNINGHAM Attorney for Appellant WSBA No. 26436

4616 25th Avenue NE, No. 552 Seattle, Washington 98105 Phone (206) 526-5001

# **

#### I. Assignments Of Error

- 1. The trial court erred when it admitted an out of court statement for a purpose other than the truth of the matter asserted.
- 2. Trial counsel provided ineffective assistance when he failed to request an instruction limiting the jury's consideration of an out of court statement admitted for a purpose other than the truth of the matter asserted.
- 3. The trial court erred in finding that Johnnie Cooley had the present or future ability to pay discretionary legal financial obligations.

#### II. Issues Pertaining To The Assignments Of Error

- 1. Did the trial court err when it admitted an out of court statement for a purpose other than the truth of the matter asserted, where the stated purpose was irrelevant to any matter at issue in the trial? (Assignment of Error 1)
- 2. Did trial counsel provide ineffective assistance when he failed to request an instruction limiting the jury's consideration of an out of court statement admitted for a purpose other than the truth of the matter asserted, which allowed the jury to consider the statement for the improper purpose of establishing Johnnie Cooley's guilt? (Assignment of Error 2)
- 3. Was the improper admission of an out of court statement, coupled with the lack of a limiting instruction, prejudicial where the statement was the only direct evidence tying Johnnie Cooley to the telephone number used to send threatening texts and place phone calls to the victim, and where the prosecutor used the statement in her closing argument as proof that Johnnie Cooley was guilty? (Assignment of Error 1 & 2)
- 4. Did the trial court fail to comply with RCW 10.01.160(3) when it imposed discretionary legal financial obligations as part of Johnnie Cooley's sentence, where there was no evidence that he has the present or future ability to pay? (Assignment of

Error 3)

- 5. Can Johnnie Cooley's challenge to the validity of the legal financial obligation order be raised for the first time on appeal? (Assignment of Error 3)
- 6. Is Johnnie Cooley's challenge to the validity of the legal financial obligation order ripe for review? (Assignment of Error 3)

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The State charged Johnnie Murrel Cooley with four counts of violating a domestic violence court order (RCW 26.50.110). (CP 1-3) The State also alleged that the four offenses were domestic violence incidents (RCW 10.99.020). (CP 1-3) The jury found Cooley guilty as charged. (CP 30-37; 12/19/13 RP 3-4)¹ The trial court sentenced Cooley to a standard range sentence of 60 months, and imposed both mandatory and discretionary legal financial obligations. (02/12/14 RP 288-89; CP 50, 52) This appeal timely follows. (CP 58)

#### B. SUBSTANTIVE FACTS

Amy Lutter and Johnnie Cooley were romantically involved for twelve years, during which time they lived together and had two

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The transcripts will be referred to by the date of the proceeding contained therein.

daughters. (12/17/13 RP 71-72) The relationship did not end well, and Lutter obtained a protection order precluding Cooley from knowingly and purposefully contacting her in person or by any other means. (12/17/13 RP 73; CP 6-7; Exh. P2, P3)

In January of 2013, Lutter and her daughters were staying at Lutter's parents' house in South Tacoma. (12/17/13 RP 74) At the time, Cooley lived about a half-mile away, in the area of South 70<sup>th</sup> and South Sheridan Streets. (12/17/13 RP 74, 78) Around 8:00 on the morning of January 17, Lutter decided to walk from her parents' house to Cooley's home because, according to Lutter, Cooley had been calling and texting her, and she wanted to talk to Cooley's landlord because she thought he could make Cooley stop contacting her. (12/17/13 RP 78, 79)

As she neared Cooley's home, she saw Cooley's truck turn the corner and drive towards her. (12/17/13 RP 79) Lutter testified that Cooley was driving the truck, and that he drove up onto the curb towards her as she stood on the sidewalk. (12/17/13 RP 79) Lutter jumped out of the way and fell to the ground. (12/17/13 RP 79) As Cooley drove away, Lutter picked up a rock and threw it at his truck, cracking a window. (12/17/13 RP 79)

At 8:07 that morning, a call came into 911 dispatch, and a

male caller reported that his ex-girlfriend had broken his car window with a rock. (12/17/13 RP 177, 179, 123) The caller told dispatch that he would wait for police officers at the intersection of South L and South 70<sup>th</sup> Streets. (12/17/13 RP179)

When officers responded to that location, they found Lutter standing at the scene, and she appeared to be upset and shaken. (12/17/13 RP 124-25, 185) Lutter told them that her boyfriend had tried to run her over, and she showed the officers tire tracks that appeared to go from the street onto the planting strip and back to the street. (12/17/13 RP 125-26, 185)

Officer Christopher Yglesias escorted Lutter to a nearby police substation. (12/17/13 RP 83, 129) While they were there, Lutter's received multiple calls from telephone number 253-906-7459, which Lutter said was Cooley's number. (12/17/13 RP 84-85, 129) Officer Yglesias told Lutter to answer one of the calls and to turn on the speaker. (12/17/13 RP 88-89, 131) Officer Yglesias testified that he heard a male caller make threatening statements to Lutter. (12/17/13 RP 131) Lutter testified the male caller was Cooley. (12/17/13 RP 88-89)

Lutter also showed Officer Yglesias several threatening text messages that she claimed to have received from Cooley on January

13, 2013. (12/17/13 RP 85, 86-87, 88, 91-93; 131-33) The State presented photographs of incoming calls and several threatening text messages sent to Lutter's phone from telephone number 253-906-7459. (Exh. P8-P11, P25; 12/17/13 RP 86-87, 88; 12/18/13 RP 206-07)

The State played an audiotape of the 911 call. (12/17/13 RP 182) On the recording, the 911 operator can be heard asking the male caller if he placed the call from telephone number 253-906-7459. (Exh. 1) The male caller indicates that the number is probably correct. (Exh. 1) Lutter testified that the voice of the male 911 caller belonged to Cooley. (12/17/13 RP 93-94)

Officer Yglesias eventually located Cooley walking in the neighborhood. (12/17/13 RP 135-36) Cooley told the Officer that he was walking to Lutter's parents' house to get money to fix the cracked truck window. (12/17/13 RP 137) He said the tire marks were made when he tried to swerve to avoid the rock thrown by Lutter. (12/17/13 RP 137) Cooley denied calling or texting Lutter, but did acknowledge calling 911. (12/17/13 RP 137, 169)

///

///

#### IV. ARGUMENT & AUTHORITIES

A. Admission of the 911 operator's statement confirming the caller's telephone number was prejudicial error, because it was not admitted for a relevant purpose and not accompanied by a limiting instruction.

Cooley objected to the portion of the 911 call where the operator asks the caller whether his telephone number is 253-906-7459, and the caller responds that if that is what the operator has as the number, "that must be it." (12/16/13 RP 54-55; Exh. 1) Cooley argued that the operator's statement is hearsay and its admission would violate his right to confront witnesses against him because the State did not plan to call the speaker to testify. (12/16/13 RP 54-55, 57) The trial court concluded that the operator's statement could be played for the jury, but not for the truth of the matter asserted. Instead, it was admissible to show "what the defendant did as a result of that [statement] or what he said." (12/16/13 RP 57)

1. Admission of the 911 operator's statement was error because the purpose for which it was admitted was not relevant to any fact at issue in this case.

ER 801(c)<sup>2</sup> permits admission of statements that would otherwise be excludable as hearsay when they are not offered for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> "'Hearsay' is a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted." ER 801(c).

the truth of their contents but for another relevant purpose. See State v. Aaron, 57 Wn. App. 277, 278-79, 787 P.2d 949 (1990). Evidence is relevant if it has "any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence." ER 401. The relevancy of evidence in a given case will depend on the circumstances of the particular case and the relationship of the facts to the ultimate issue. ER 401.

In <u>Aaron</u>, Division 1 found that the trial court abused its discretion in admitting evidence related by a 911 dispatcher to a police officer who testified at trial. 57 Wn. App. at 278-79. The officer was told by the 911 dispatcher that a burglary suspect used a blue jeans jacket to push through some bushes to retrieve stolen property. A blue jeans jacket and stolen goods were found in a car that Aaron occupied just before his arrest. 57 Wn. App. at 278-79.

At trial, Aaron challenged as hearsay the police officer's testimony that the dispatcher told him about the blue jeans jacket. The trial court overruled the hearsay objection and admitted the statement not for the truth of the matter asserted, but instead to show the officer's state of mind in explaining why he acted as he did. The trial court also refused to give a limiting instruction requested by the

defense. 57 Wn. App. at 279-80.

On appeal, Division 1 reversed, reasoning that because the legality of the search and seizure preceding Aaron's arrest was not at issue, the officer's state of mind was also not at issue. Thus, the officer's state of mind was not relevant to any fact of consequence. The court went on to say that the true purpose of the evidence was "solely to suggest to the jury that the jacket containing [the stolen property] belonged to Aaron." 57 Wn. App. at 279-80.

In this case, the caller did not acknowledge that the number recited by the operator was in fact correct, so the caller's verbal response to the 911 operator's statement sheds no light on any fact at issue. Similarly, what the caller did in response to the dispatcher's statement was neither known nor relevant. The caller's response simply did not make "determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence." ER 401. Accordingly, the dispatcher's statement was not relevant for the purpose cited by the trial court, or for any other purpose.

As in <u>Aaron</u>, the true purpose of the admission of the 911 operator's statements was to establish guilt. Its true purpose was to allow the State to connect Cooley to that specific telephone number. This purpose is evidenced by the fact that the prosecutor referred to

the recording in closing statements as proof that Cooley called 911 from that exact cellular phone number. (12/18/13 RP 246)

This evidence directly tied Cooley to the phone number used to text and call Lutter on January 13 and January 17, 2013. The only other evidence connecting Cooley to that telephone number came from Lutter herself. Cooley vigorously challenged Lutter's credibility throughout trial. (12/17/13 RP 103-09; 12/18/13 RP 255-72) The jury's determination of guilt or innocence rested on its opinion of Lutter's credibility. It is impossible to say that the jury would have necessarily found her testimony credible if it had not been improperly bolstered by the operator reciting the phone number connected to the texts and calls.

2. The error in admitting the 911 operator's statement was compounded because trial counsel failed to request that the jury be instructed on the limited purpose for which the evidence was supposed to have been admitted.

When trial counsel failed to request an instruction limiting the purpose for which the jury could consider the statement, he failed to provide effective assistance of counsel. Effective assistance of counsel is guaranteed by both U.S. Const. amd. VI and Wash. Const. art. I, § 22 (amend. x). Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984); State v. Mierz, 127 Wn.2d

460, 471, 901 P.2d 286 (1995). To show ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant must show that counsel's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and that the deficient performance prejudiced the outcome of his trial. State v. Thomas, 109 Wn.2d 222, 226, 743 P.2d 816 (1987). Counsel's error results in prejudice when there is a reasonable probability that the outcome of trial would have differed absent the errors. Thomas, 109 Wn.2d at 226. However, a defendant "need not show that counsel's deficient conduct more likely than not altered the outcome of the case." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 693.

When evidence is admitted for a limited purpose and the party against whom it is admitted requests a limiting instruction, the court is obliged to give it. State v. Freeburg, 105 Wn. App. 492, 501, 20 P.3d 984 (2001); ER 105.<sup>3</sup> The 911 operator's statement was admitted for a limited purpose. (12/16/13 RP 57) Thus, if Cooley's trial counsel had requested a limiting instruction, it would have been given.

The limiting instruction would have prevented the jury from

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> "When evidence which is admissible as to one party or for one purpose but not admissible as to another party or for another purpose is admitted, the court, upon request, shall restrict the evidence to its proper scope and instruct the jury accordingly." ER 105.

using the evidence as proof that Cooley owned or used a telephone assigned the number 253-906-7459, which was the number associated with the threatening texts and telephone calls. As noted in <u>Aaron</u>, "[w]hile there may be some doubt as to the efficacy of a limiting instruction in effectively controlling jury deliberations, it is of vital importance that counsel have the benefit of the instruction to stress to the jury that the testimony was admitted only for a limited purpose and may not be considered as evidence of the defendant's guilt." 57 Wn. App. at 281.

Trial counsel here opposed the admission of the operator's statement but failed to act to limit its impact on the jury. This failure fell below objective standards of reasonableness. The admission of the operator's statement was prejudicial, as argued above, and there can be no legitimate purpose for failing to limit its prejudicial impact.

The improper admission of the hearsay evidence, coupled with the lack of a limiting instruction, was therefore prejudicial error requiring reversal of Cooley's convictions. See <u>Aaron</u>, 57 Wn. App. at 282-83 (finding that the trial court's admission of irrelevant hearsay coupled with a failure to give a limiting instruction was prejudicial error requiring reversal of Aaron's convictions).

- B. THE TRIAL COURT'S FAILURE TO CONSIDER COOLEY'S ABILITY TO PAY BEFORE IMPOSING DISCRETIONARY LEGAL FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS CONSTITUTES A SENTENCING ERROR THAT MAY BE CHALLENGED FOR THE FIRST TIME ON DIRECT APPEAL.
- 1. The record fails to establish that the trial court actually took into account Cooley's financial circumstances before imposing discretionary LFOs.

At sentencing, the State asked the trial court to impose legal financial obligations (LFOs) totaling \$3,300.00, including \$2,500.00 in non-mandatory DAC attorney fees. (02/21/14 RP 284) Cooley told the court that his child support payments to Lutter had recently been reduced to zero because he would be incarcerated with no ability to pay, and that he was concerned for the financial welfare of his children. (02/21/14 RP 288) The trial court ordered Cooley to pay legal costs in the amount of \$2,300.00, which included discretionary costs of \$1,500 for appointed counsel, stating only: "I've given you a thousand dollars there as well . . . [t]hose daughters could use that money when you get out." (02/21/14 RP 288-89; CP 50)

The Judgment and Sentence includes the following boilerplate language:

2.5 ABILITY TO PAY LEGAL FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS The court has considered the total amount owing, the defendant's past,

present and future ability to pay legal financial obligations, including defendant's financial resources and the likelihood that the defendant's status will change. The court finds that the defendant has the ability or likely future ability to pay the legal financial obligations imposed herein.

(CP 49)

RCW 10.01.160 gives a sentencing court authority to impose legal financial obligations on a convicted offender, and includes the following provision:

[t]he court **shall not** order a defendant to pay costs unless the defendant is or will be able to pay them. In determining the amount and method of payment of costs, the court **shall** take account of the financial resources of the defendant and the nature of the burden that payment of costs will impose.

RCW 10.01.160 (3) (emphasis added). The word "shall" means the requirement is mandatory. State v. Claypool, 111 Wn. App. 473, 475-76, 45 P.3d 609 (2002). Hence, the trial court was without authority to impose LFOs as a condition of Cooley's sentence if it did not first take into account his financial resources and the individual burdens of payment.

While formal findings supporting the trial court's decision to impose LFOs under RCW 10.01.160(3) are not required, the record must minimally establish the sentencing judge did in fact consider

the defendant's individual financial circumstances and made an individualized determination that he has the ability, or likely future ability, to pay. State v. Curry, 118 Wn.2d 911, 916, 829 P.2d 166 (1992); State v. Bertrand, 165 Wn. App. 393, 403-04, 267 P.3d 511 (2011). If the record does not show this occurred, the trial court's LFO order is not in compliance with RCW 10.01.160(3) and, thus, exceeds the trial court's authority.

The record does not establish the trial court actually took into account Cooley's financial resources and the nature of the payment burden or made an individualized determination regarding his ability to pay. The State did not provide evidence establishing Cooley's ability to pay or ask it to make a determination under RCW 10.01.160 when it asked that LFOs be imposed.<sup>4</sup> (RP 2390) While acknowledging that Cooley would have financial burdens that come with raising children when he is released from confinement, the trial court made no further inquiry into Cooley's financial resources, debts, or employability. There was no specific evidence before the trial court regarding Cooley's past employment or his future educational opportunities or employment prospects.

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> It is the State's burden to prove the defendant's ability or likely ability to pay. State v. Lundy, 176 Wn. App. 96, 106, 308 P.3d 755 (2013).

The boilerplate finding in section 2.5 of the Judgment and Sentence does not establish compliance with RCW 10.01.160(3)'s requirements. Such a boilerplate finding is insufficient to show the trial court actually gave independent thought and consideration to the facts of Cooley's case. See, e.g., In re Dependency of K.N.J., 171 Wn.2d 568, 257 P.3d 522 (2011). The Judgment and Sentence form used in Cooley's case contained a pre-formatted conclusion that he had the ability to pay LFOs. It does not include a checkbox to register even minimal individualized judicial consideration. (CP 49) Rather, every time one of these forms is used, there is a pre-formatted conclusion that the trial court followed the requirements of RCW 10.01.160(3), regardless of what actually transpired. This type of finding therefore cannot reliably establish that the trial court complied with RCW 10.01.160(3). And the trial court made no contemporaneous statements at sentencing regarding Cooley's ability to pay. (02/21/14 RP 288-89)

In sum, the record fails to establish the trial court actually took into account Cooley's financial circumstances before imposing LFOs. As such, it did not comply with the authorizing statute. Consequently, this Court should vacate that portion of the Judgment and Sentence.

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