COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

JOHNNIE MURREL COOLEY, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County
The Honorable Thomas Larkin, Judge

No. 13-1-00268-1

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK LINDQUIST Prosecuting Attorney

By CHELSEY MILLER Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 42892

930 Tacoma Avenue South Room 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 PH: (253) 798-7400

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

C. ARGUMENT.

- 1. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS
 DISCRETION BY ADMITTING THE 911 TAPE THAT
 CONTAINED AN ADOPTED ADMISSION BY
 DEFENDANT AND THUS WAS NOT HEARSAY.
 FURTHER, ANY ERROR WOULD HAVE BEEN
 HARMLESS, AND DEFENDANT FAILED TO SATISFY
 EITHER PRONG NECESSESARY TO SHOW
 INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.
 - a. The trial court properly admitted the 911 tape because it was an adopted admission by defendant, not hearsay.

A trial court's decision to admit or exclude evidence is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *State v. Thach*, 126 Wn. App. 297, 310, 106

Cooley.doc

P.3d 782 (2005). Deference must be given to the sound discretion of the trial court; the test is "whether there are tenable grounds or reasons for the trial court's decision." *State v. Kinard*, 109 Wn. App. 428, 432, 36 P.3d 573 (2001); *State v. Harris*, 97 Wn. App. 865, 870, 989 P.2d 553 (1999), review denied, 140 Wn.2d 1017, 5 P.3d 10 (2000).

Evidence Rule 801(c) defines hearsay as: "a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted." ER 801(c). Hearsay is not admissible, except as provided by the rules of evidence, by other court rules, or by statute. ER 802.

Evidence Rule 801(d)(2) provides that a statement is not hearsay if: "The statement is offered against a party and is . . . a statement of which the party has manifested an adoption or belief in its truth." ER 801(d)(2). Adoption of a statement can be manifested by words, gestures or complete silence. State v. Cotten, 75 Wn. App. 669, 689, 879 P.2d 971 (1994); State v. Neslund, 50 Wn. App. 531, 550, 749 P.2d 725, review denied, 110 Wn.2d 1025 (1988). An adoptive admission is attributed to the defendant and becomes his own words. Therefore, the right of confrontation is not implicated. Cotten, 75 Wn. App. at 689; Neslund, 50 Wn. App. at 554. Adoptive admissions also necessarily require admission of the statements to which the defendant acquiesces. Neslund, 50 Wn. App. at 555.

During motions in limine, defense counsel moved to prohibit the State from using the 911 tape in its case. 2RP 52. Defendant argued the

tape contained hearsay. On the tape, the 911 operator asked defendant his phone number. 2RP 52; Ex. 1. When defendant was unable to recall his number, the 911 operator read the incoming call number from the screen, and asked if that was his number. *Id.* Defendant replied that if that was what the operator had, that must be his number. *Id.* The State explained that the tape was admissible because it was an adopted admission by defendant:

And just to be clear, what the 911 operator asks is they look at their screen, they say, "Is this your phone number," and they repeat the number. But it's the defendant's admission, "Yes, that's my number," that's what makes it admissible. Had the defendant been silent on the phone call about as to is that my number, then counsel is correct, because then you have a statement in and of itself by the 911 operator announcing this is the number.

2RP 55. The court agreed stating: "I think it's admissible for the limited purpose of showing what the defendant did." 2RP 55.

The court stated multiple times, and the State agreed, that the admission of the tape depended on the State laying the proper foundation. 2RP 55; 2RP 58. If the State established the voice on the call was defendant's, then it would be adopted admission rather than hearsay. *Id.*Lutter identified the voice on the 911 tape as defendant's well before it was played for the jury. 3RP 93-94. Lutter also identified the phone number as belonging to the defendant well before the tape was played.

3RP 84. The tape was also authenticated by a tape research analyst for

South Sound 911 before being played in open court. 3RP 182. Defendant did not object to the admission or publishing of the tape. *Id*.

The trial court in this case admitted the 911 call not for the truth of the matter asserted by the 911 operator; rather, the court admitted the call for: "what the defendant did as a result of that." 2RP 57. The 911 operator read the incoming call phone number, which may be hearsay when taken alone; however, it was defendant's affirmative statement immediately following that made the 911 operator's statement part of the adopted admission. Admitting the 911 operator's statement was necessary to understand the defendant's adopted admission. Because the operator's statement was admitted as part of defendant's adopted admission under ER 801(d)(2), and not for the truth of the matter asserted, it was not hearsay. Therefore, the judge did not abuse his discretion by admitting that portion of the 911 because it was part of an adopted admission by defendant.

b. Any error was harmless because of the overwhelming evidence that the (253)-906-7459 phone number belonged to defendant.

Even if this Court finds the 911 tape was hearsay and its admission was an error, it should still affirm defendant's conviction because the error would have been harmless. It is well established that constitutional errors may be so insignificant as to be harmless. *State v. Guloy*, 104 Wn.2d 412, 425, 705 P.2d 1182 (1985); *State v. Davis*, 154 Wn.2d 291, 305, 111 P.3d 844 (2005) *aff'd*, 547 U.S. 813, 126 S. Ct. 2266, 165 L. Ed.2d 224 (2006). To find a harmless error, the court must be convinced beyond a reasonable

-8 - Cooley.doc

doubt that any reasonable jury would have reached the same result without the error. *State v. Smith*, 148 Wn.2d 122, 139, 59 P.3d 74 (2002).

To determine if the same result would have been reached, the court applies the "overwhelming untainted evidence" test. *Id.* Under this test, "we consider the untainted evidence admitted at trial to determine if it is so overwhelming that it necessarily leads to a finding of guilt." *Id.*; *State v. Beadle*, 173 Wn.2d 97, 119, 265 P.3d 863 (2011); *Guloy*, 104 Wn.2d at 412. If the erroneous admission of evidence is of minor significance in reference to the overwhelming evidence as a whole, the error is harmless. *State v. Magee*, 143 Wn. App. 698, 703, 180 P.3d 824 (2008), *rev'd on other grounds*, 167 Wn.2d 639, 220 P.3d 1224 (2009).

There was a significant amount of other untainted evidence proving defendant's phone number was (253)-906-7459. First, Lutter identified the number (253)-906-7459 and the voice on the 911 tape as belonging to defendant, a man whom she intimately knew for twelve years. 3RP 84-85, 3RP 89, 3RP 93-94. Second, there was testimony from Lutter and police who saw the threatening text messages sent by defendant to Lutter. 3RP 88, 3RP 91-93, 3RP 132-33. There are photographs of these text messages which display the (253)-906-7459 phone number. Ex. 11. Third, police were present with Lutter when she received threatening phone calls from defendant, and police could both hear the call and see the calls were from the (253)-906-7459 phone number. 3RP 129-131. Lastly, defendant himself admitted to police that he had called 911. 3RP 169.

-9-

Therefore, even if the Court were to find the trial court erred in admitting the portion of the 911 tape with the defendant's number, any error was harmless because there was an overwhelming amount of other untainted evidence that (253)-906-7459 was defendant's phone number.

Defendant's reliance on *State v. Aaron* is misplaced. 57 Wn. App. 277, 787 P.2d 949 (1990). In *Aaron*, the hearsay admitted was the primary piece of evidence linking the defendant to the crime, and the court found no other purpose for the evidence than to suggest to the jury that the jacket containing stolen items belonged to the defendant. *Id.* at 280. First, in the case at hand, the number was not hearsay. Second, there was substantial untainted evidence that the phone number was defendant's. Unlike in *Aaron*, the 911 operator's statement on the tape recording is not the only piece of evidence connecting defendant to the phone number, as explained above. *See*, 3RP 84-85, 3RP 89, 3RP 93-94; 3RP 129-131; 3RP 169.

Defendant, on appeal, erroneously attempts to call into question the credibility of the victim, Lutter, in her testimony identifying the (253)-906-7459 number as belonging to defendant. App. Br. p. 9. The jury is the sole judge of witness credibility, and "[o]nly with the greatest reluctance and with clearest cause should judges--particularly those on appellate courts--consider second-guessing jury determinations or jury competence." *State v. Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d 918, 938, 155 P.3d 125 (2007). The first instruction the jury was given stated:

You are the sole judges of the credibility of each witness. You are also the sole judges of the value or weight to be given to the testimony of each witness. In considering a witness's testimony, you may consider these things: the opportunity of the witness to observe or know the things he or she testifies about; the ability of the witness to observe accurately; the quality of a witness's memory while testifying; any personal interest that the witness might have in the outcome or the issues; any bias or prejudice that the witness may have shown; the reasonableness of the witness's statements in the context of all of the other evidence; and any other factors that affect your evaluation or belief of a witness or your evaluation of his or her testimony.

CP 10. The jury saw firsthand Lutter's testimony and was properly instructed on its role in determining credibility. This Court should not second-guess the jury acting within its proper role.

c. Defendant has failed to show ineffective assistance of counsel because counsel was not unreasonable for failing to propose a limiting instruction that was not needed and no prejudice has been shown.

To demonstrate ineffective assistance of counsel, defendant must show two things: (1) defense counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness in light of all circumstances, and (2) defense counsel's representation prejudiced the defendant. *State v. McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d 322, 334-35, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995); *State v. Thomas*, 109 Wn.2d 222, 225-26, 743 P.2d 816 (1987) (applying the two-prong test in *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984)).

- 11 - Cooley.doc

The burden is on the defendant alleging ineffective assistance to show deficient representation based on the record below. *McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d at 335. There is a strong presumption that counsel's representation was effective. *Id.*; *State v. Brett*, 162 Wn.2d 136, 198, 892 P.2d 29 (1995). The failure of a defendant to show either deficient performance or prejudice defeats his claim. *State v. Emery*, 174 Wn.2d 741, 755, 278 P.3d 653 (2012).

Defendant has failed to show that counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness by failing to propose a limiting instruction for the 911 recording. See, Ex. 1. A court must give a limiting instruction where the evidence is admissible only for a limited purpose and an appropriate limiting instruction is requested. ER 105;

Aaron, 57 Wn. App. at 281. As explained above, the 911 tape was admitted as an adopted admission, not as hearsay. The evidence was not admitted for a limited purpose. Therefore, there was no need for a limiting instruction. Defendant has failed to show his counsel was ineffective for failing to propose a limiting instruction for evidence that was not admitted for a limited purpose.

Defendant has also failed to show prejudice because, as discussed above, there was a significant amount of evidence that the (253)-906-7459 number belonged to defendant even without the admission of the 911 operator's statement. Therefore, defendant has failed to show both deficient performance and prejudice.

2. DEFENDANT'S CHALLENGE TO THE IMPOSITION OF LEGAL FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS SHOULD BE REJECTED BECAUSE IT IS NOT RIPE FOR REVIEW, WAS NOT PRESERVED FOR APPEAL, AND FAILS ON ITS MERITS.

Trial courts may require a defendant to pay costs associated with bringing a case to trial pursuant to RCW 10.01.160. There are two limitations in the statute to protect defendants:

- (3) The court shall not order a defendant to pay costs unless the defendant is or will be able to pay them. In determining the amount and method of payment of costs, the court shall take account of the financial resources of the defendant and the nature of the burden that payment of costs will impose.
- (4) A defendant who has been ordered to pay costs and who is not in contumacious default in the payment thereof may at any time petition the sentencing court for remission of the payment of costs...

RCW 10.01.160.

a. This Court should decline to review the issue of legal financial obligations because the issue is not ripe for review until the State attempts enforcement.

Challenges to orders establishing legal financial obligations (LFOs) are not ripe for review until the State attempts to curtail a defendant's liberty by enforcing them. *State v. Lundy*, 176 Wn. App. 96, 108, 308 P.3d 755 (2013); *see also, State v. Smits*, 152 Wn. App. 514, 523-24, 216 P.3d 1097 (2009) ("the time to examine a defendant's ability to pay is when the government seeks to collect the obligation"). In the present case, there is nothing in the record showing that the State has

attempted to enforce the LFOs. Therefore, the issue is not yet ripe for review, and this Court should decline to review it.

Defendant erroneously relies on *State v. Bahl* to assert his claim is ripe. 164 Wn.2d 729, 193 P.3d 678 (2008). However, the court in *Bahl*, held: "a defendant may assert a preenforcement *vagueness challenge* to sentencing conditions if the challenge is sufficiently ripe." *Id.* at 751 (emphasis added). The court specifically contrasts a vagueness challenge, which may be ripe for review before enforcement, with challenges to the imposition of LFOs, which are not ripe. *Id.* at 749. Defendant fails to argue why this Court should address the LFOs under a vagueness challenge, and thus the issue is not ripe for review.

b. This Court should decline to review the issue of legal financial obligations because the issue was not properly preserved for appeal.

Failure to object precludes raising an issue on appeal. *State v. Guloy*, 104 Wn.2d 412, 421, 705 P.2d 1182 (1985). A defendant may only appeal a non-constitutional issue on the same grounds that he objected on below. *State v. Thetford*, 109 Wn.2d 392, 397, 745 P.2d 496 (1987); *State v. Hettich*, 70 Wn. App. 586, 592, 854 P.2d 1112 (1993). Objecting to an issue promotes judicial efficiency by giving the trial court an opportunity to fix any potential errors, thereby avoiding unnecessary appeals. *See, State v. Lindsey*, 177 Wn. App. 233, 247, 311 P.3d 61 (2013).

Defendant had an opportunity to object to the LFOs imposed and provide information of extraordinary circumstances that would make

payment inappropriate in paragraph 2.5 of the Judgment and Sentence. CP 49. Defendant failed to object. Defendant also failed to object during the sentencing hearing held on February 21, 2014. 6RP 282-290. Defendant failed to properly preserve the issue at the trial level.

The appellate court may grant discretionary review for three issues raised for the first time on appeal: (1) lack of trial court jurisdiction, (2) failure to establish facts upon which relief can be granted, and (3) manifest error affecting a constitutional right. RAP 2.5(a). *See also, State v. Riley*, 121 Wn.2d 22, 31, 846 P.2d 1365 (1993); *State v. Sisouvanh*, 175 Wn.2d 607, 618, 290 P.3d 942 (2012). Defendant does not claim relief under any of these three grounds, and therefore this Court should decline to review the issue for the first time on appeal because defendant failed to object below.

Defendant attempts to persuade the Court to accept review on policy grounds: that the process for requesting the modification of an LFO order when it is enforced is unduly burdensome on defendants. Br. of App. 19-22. However, defendant mischaracterizes the legal processes required. Although the legal system may be daunting to those without professional training, thousands of people across Washington State file motions pro se every day. A motion is simply required to be in writing, state the grounds for relief, and the relief sought. CR 7. Making a motion to modify LFOs is no more complicated than challenging a traffic citation or changing one's name. Further, defendant was afforded an opportunity to easily object in

- 15 - Cooley.doc

paragraph 2.5 of the Judgment and Sentence, which required no more than a check mark and a sentence of explanation. *See*, CP 49. Defendant failed to take the opportunity to object, and this Court should decline to allow him to object for the first time on appeal.

c. The trial court properly exercised its
discretion in imposing the legal financial
obligations by considering defendant's work
history and determination to earn a living.

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